

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

C95 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your file - Votre rélérence

Our life. Notice reference

NOTICE

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments.

AVIS

La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents.



UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

Social-Communicative Interactions of Developmentally Delayed Preschool Children in Integrated Settings

by

Mary A. Reynolds

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

in

Speech Language Pathology

Department of Speech Pathology and Audiology

Edmonton, Alberta

Fail, 1995



Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your file Votre rélérance

Our file Notie référence

THE AUTHOR HAS GRANTED AN IRREVOCABLE NON-EXCLUSIVE LICENCE ALLOWING THE NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA TO REPRODUCE, LOAN, DISTRIBUTE OR SELL COPIES OF HIS/HER THESIS BY ANY MEANS AND IN ANY FORM OR FORMAT, MAKING THIS THESIS AVAILABLE TO INTERESTED PERSONS.

L'AUTEUR A ACCORDE UNE LICENCE IRREVOCABLE ET NON EXCLUSIVE PERMETTANT A LA BIBLIOTHEQUE NATIONALE DU CANADA DE REPRODUIRE, PRETER, DISTRIBUER OU VENDRE DES COPIES DE SA THESE DE QUELQUE MANIERE ET SOUS QUELQUE FORME QUE CE SOIT POUR METTRE DES EXEMPLAIRES DE CETTE THESE A LA DISPOSITION DES PERSONNE INTERESSEES.

THE AUTHOR RETAINS OWNERSHIP OF THE COPYRIGHT IN HIS/HER THESIS. NEITHER THE THESIS NOR SUBSTANTIAL EXTRACTS FROM IT MAY BE PRINTED OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED WITHOUT HIS/HER PERMISSION.

L'AUTEUR CONSERVE LA PROPRIETE DU DROIT D'AUTEUR QUI PROTEGE SA THESE. NI LA THESE NI DES EXTRAITS SUBSTANTIELS DE CELLE-CI NE DOIVENT ETRE IMPRIMES OU AUTREMENT REPRODUITS SANS SON AUTORISATION.

ISBN 0-612-06531-6



UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

LIBRARY RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR: Mary A. Reynolds

TITLE OF THESIS: Social-Communicative Interactions of Developmentally Delayed

Preschool Children in Integrated Settings

DEGREE: Master of Science

YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED: 1995

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

10744 - 45 Street

Edmonton, Alberta

Canada T6A 1X7

Date: 05 October 1995

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommended to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled *Social-Communicative Interactions of Developmentally Delayed Preschool Children in Integrated Settings* submitted by Mary A. Reynolds in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Speech Language Pathology.

Gary Holdgrafer, Ph.D., Supervisor

Phyllis Schneider, Ph.D.

Richard Sobsey, Ph.D.

Date: 14 September 1995

Abstract

The social-communicative interactions of six preschool children with developmental delays were investigated. These children were enrolled in a reverse integrated preschool program and concurrently attended a community mainstreamed daycare program. Rates of initiation and responding, proportion of appropriate responses to initiations, and effect of using an attention getting device for subjects and their communicative partners during free play were compared between the two settings.

Results indicated no significant group differences between the two settings for rates of initiation, responding, or reciprocal exchanges, nor for proportion of appropriate responses. Overall, rates of initiations and responding were extremely low. Results for both settings indicated a significant difference between initiations with an attention getting device resulting in an appropriate response and initiations without an attention getting device resulting in an appropriate response. Subjects were much more successful in obtaining an appropriate response and in responding appropriately when an attention getting device was used.

Acknowledgments

My sincere gratitude and utmost admiration goes to my supervisor, friend and mentor, Gary Holdgrafer. Thank you for your gentle teaching, thoughtful guidance and timely encouragement.

Thank you to my committee members, Phyllis Schneider and Dick Sobsey for your support, kind words, and insightful suggestions.

Thank you to Shelly and Jennifer for hours spent recoding videotapes and for being so reliable.

My many thanks go to the children and staff of the Early Education Programs and daycares for their willingness to participate in this study and for cheerfully accommodating me and my equipment in their rooms.

To my husband Doug and children Tory and Riley, who sacrificed more than anyone, my humble appreciation and deepest love. Thank you for your understanding, patience and faith.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1	1
INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2	3
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	3
Social-Communicative Competence	3
Peer Interactions	7
A Framework For Social-Communicative Peer Interactions	12
Integration	13
Rational for Study	16
Research Questions	18
CHAPTER 3	19
Метнор	19
Subjects	19
Materials and Instrumentation	21
Setting	21
Procedure	22
Reliability	24
CHAPTER 4	25
RESULTS	25
CHAPTER 5	30
DISCUSSION	30
Effects of Setting on Initiations and Responses	30
Effectiveness of Attention Getting Devices	33

Limitations and Implications	35
REFERENCES	37
APPENDIX A	46
CODING SHEET	46
APPENDIX B	47
DEFINITION OF CODES	47
APPENDIX C	49
PARTICIPANT'S INFORMED CONSENT (SUBJECTS)	49
APPENDIX D	51
PARTICIPANT'S INFORMED CONSENT (PEERS)	51
APPENDIX E	53
PARTICIPANT'S INFORMED CONSENT (STAFF)	53

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1	Characteristics of developmentally delayed subjects	20
TABLE 2	Proportion of appropriate responses to initiation	
	by communicative function	27
TABLE 3	Proportion of use of an attention getting device	
	with a subject initiation	28
TABLE 4	Proportion of use of an attention getting device	
	with a partner initiation	29

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

To acquire language adequately, children must participate in active social-communication exchanges with their communicative partners (Garvey, 1984, Gallagher, 1993). The partner of primary focus has been the adult caregiver (MacDonald, Gillette, & Hutchinson, 1989) and more recently the child's peers (Guralnick, 1992). The ability to communicate with other children for social purposes develops quickly during the preschool years (Garvey, 1984). Relatively little is known however, about the interactions that occur between children with disabilities and their typically developing peers (Guralnick, 1986).

The integrative nature of processes associated with children's peer relationships is highlighted by the close association between social and communicative skills (Guralnick, 1992; Gallagher & Prutting, 1983; Hadley & Rice, 1991; Rice, 1993; Rice, Sell, and Hadley, 1991; Prutting, 1982). Impaired social skills, of which communication tends to be a contributing factor, is a major defining characteristic of children with disabilities (Strain & Kohler, 1988). Future developmental outcomes for these children may depend, in part, on their social-communicative skilfulness with peers (Guralnick, 1986; Jenkins, Odom, & Speltz, 1989). Currently, there is a significant need for systematic analysis of the key social-communicative strategies necessary to optimize interactions between disabled children and their nondisabled peers, as well as the need to consider the settings in which social-communicative interactions occur (Ostrosky, Kaiser, & Odom, 1993).

Integrating young children with disabilities and children without disabilities in the same educational setting has emerged as one of the most important and complex practices in the past decade. The process of integration affects and is affected by multiple factors at many different levels (Guralnick, 1993). Peck, Odom, & Bricker (1993) have summarized the issues best by stating that "the adaptation and development of children in

integrated settings is influenced most directly by the nature and extent of the social and communicative interactions taking place in those settings on a daily basis" (p.1).

From past research it is known that developmentally delayed preschool children are at risk for the development of peer interactions and thus at risk for the benefits to be gained from such interactions. Engaging in reciprocal interactions requires, at least the social-communicative ability and skill involved in initiating a conversation and responding to the initiations of others.

The rationale for this study evolved from a review of the literature on the development of social-communicative competence in young children, the importance of peer interactions on this development and how integration might affect these relationships. The principle of normalization has resulted in the widespread practice of providing education within the least restrictive environment for children with disabilities. This has led to the development of a plethora of programs with varying *types* of integration.

This study sought to analyze the social-communicative interactions of a select group of young children with disabilities with adult and child communicative partners. These preschool children, exhibiting moderate-severe developmental delays, attended two types of integrated programs concurrently. This study addressed questions concerning group differences in rate and proportion measures of initiations and responses between a reversed and mainstreamed integrated setting. Secondly, the effect of attention getting devices on success of initiations was investigated. Attention getting devices are considered to be important to successful communication by developmentally delayed children. Of additional interest here was the responsiveness of developmentally delayed children to attention getting devices.

CHAPTER 2

Review of the Literature

The following review of the literature is organized into four areas addressing the development of social-communicative competence in young children, the development and importance of peer interactions, a framework for social-communicative peer interactions, and principles of integration. Within these general areas the implications for children with disabilities will be discussed.

Social-Communicative Competence

The influence of the study of pragmatics has led to an increased awareness of the social role of language (Gallagher, 1991). How children use their communication in social contexts to initiate and maintain social interactions (Bates, 1976) is the basis of the study of pragmatics. Gallagher (1991) states that we have been slow to deal with language disorders in social-interactional terms, despite the fact that language is the primary means by which we make interpersonal contact, socialize our children, and regulate our interactions. Effective social interactions are dependent, in part, upon the child's ability to communicate functionally with others. When investigating children's conversations, one must regard language as a social behaviour, and conversely, social competence must be considered in the context of language skills (Gallagher, 1993). Odom, McConnell, & McEvoy (1992) have observed that the process of examining social competence appears similar to the measurement of pragmatic language dimensions in children. Despite this, little attention has been directed towards the systematic observation of social-communicative goals of young children with disabilities. Guralnick (1986) states that to understand peer related social development of children, we must integrate our knowledge of developmental pragmatics, child sociolinguistics, and socialcommunicative competence.

There is a lack of consensus as to the definition of social competence in the literature. Researchers have conceptualized a wide range of skills necessary for social competence (Odom et al., 1992) however, there is an apparent consensus that communication and language skills are a critical component (Gallagher, 1991; Guralnick, 1992). Despite this, there have been limited studies as to the link between children's social interactions and their communicative capabilities (Halle, 1985).

It is widely recognized that early communication emerges in the context of infant-adult interactions. A child's early socialization needs and experiences form the fundamental basis for subsequent language development (Rice, 1993). The young child's early communication skills are used to express basic social-communicative intentions. Communication serves as a means of commenting on objects and events of interest, drawing attention to oneself, requesting objects and activities, and engaging in social routines (Bates, 1976; Halliday, 1975). Bruner, as cited in Wetherby and Prizant (1993) labelled these "instinctive" intentions as behaviour regulation, joint attention, and social interaction. As the child's communicative skills develop into a language system, these intentions become diversified, more complex and extended.

The distinction between communicative interaction and social interaction in preschool children is difficult, if not impossible, to determine (Goldstein & Kaczmarek, 1992). The following is a review of what is currently thought to characterize the social-communicative interactions of young typically developing children.

The frequency of communicative interactions of typically developing preschool children is highly variable. Data suggest that preschool children engage in verbal interactions between one third and two thirds of the time spent in free play (Paul, 1985). Garvey and Bendebba (1975) reported a mean rate of 6.9 utterances per minute per child, based on 5 minute samples of preschool child dyads. Mueller (1972) found an average of 3.3 utterances per minute in preschool dyads. Tremblay, Strain, Hendrickson, and Shores (1981) looked at the combination of verbal and non-verbal interactions and determined that children produce peer directed utterances at a rate of 3 times per minute. Verbal initiations were found to be more frequent than non-verbal initiations. The

frequency with which children initiate social-communicative interactions has been strongly correlated with the frequency with which they receive similar bids (Beringer & Garvey, 1981; Charlesworth and Hartup, 1967; Leiter, 1977). Thus, the ability to initiate appears fundamental to social-communicative competence.

Mueller (1972) defined communicative success for preschool children as a verbal or non-verbal response to the speaker that was related to what the speaker had said. Commands and questions were the most useful in getting a response. Mueller also found that success was most likely when the speaker had the listener's attention at the start of the utterance. Children and adults use a variety of verbal and non verbal behaviors with the purpose of gaining or securing the intended listener's attention. These attention getting devices (AGD) may include eye contact, touching, physical proximity, vocatives such as "hey" or calling a proper name (McTear, 1985). The developmental literature shows the use of attention getting devices by children as young as two years (Wellman & Lempers, 1977; McTear, 1979, 1985). Their origin has been traced back to the prelinguistic stage. Carter (1978) traced the development of prelinguistic devices, such as the coordination of gesture and vocalization, to the use of conventionalized vocalizations. These vocalizations carry the intent of gaining the listener's attention resulting in the verbal ability to establish joint attention. The use of attention getting devices have been shown to increase with age in peer interactions, suggesting that increases are a function of children's developing communicative competence (Mueller, 1972). The importance of these devices as a prerequisite for successful communication can be seen in models of successful initiations (McTear & Conti-Ramsden, 1992). One must get, or ascertain that they have, a listener's attention before a message can be sent and then received. McTear (1985) defines initiations as falling into one of three categories: questions, requests for action, and statements. If there has been a failure to respond to the first initiation, attention getting devices then serve as an important step in attempts at reinitiation. McTear further categorizes reinitiations as repeats, repeats with prosodic shift, repeats with attention-getting or attention-directing devices, and rephrasings.

McTear (1985) observed that in the past, attention getting devices have not been featured in the literature based on the assumption that they were basic and acquired very early. Moreover, attention getting was not expected to be a problem in language impairment based on the theory that development of intent occurs before language development. McTear postulated that researchers had overlooked this aspect of conversation. He concluded that it would be useful if "profiles of conversational disability were to include attention getting as a potential area of difficulty" (p. 233).

Guralnick (1986) has pointed out that the development of peer interactions is also facilitated by the reciprocal relationships that characterize social-communicative interactions. He stated that the processes through which social-communicative skills are acquired appear to be linked to scaffolding by adults and the co-equal qualities of the child-child social exchange. Adults typically provide a highly responsive and often anticipatory social environment. Peers rely on the "effective participation and balanced contribution of both partners" (p. 94). Thus, children's interactions show a balance typically characterized by an alternating, turn taking process between the communicative partners.

It would seem logical to assume that the social-communicative skills of disabled children would be commensurate with their general level of development (e.g., cognitive, motor) (Guralnick, 1992). This does not, however, appear to be the case (Guralnick, 1992). Despite findings that children with disabilities do engage in reciprocal interactions and are responsive to their peers (Guralnick & Paul-Brown, 1986; Guralnick & Weinhouse, 1984) they perform significantly poorer than their typically developing peers matched for general level of development. Specifically, social-communicative interactions occur less frequently (Guralnick & Paul-Brown, 1989; Hadley & Rice, 1991; Rice et al., 1991). Guralnick & Groom (1988) found the frequency of interactions for disabled children to be highly sensitive to settings and characteristics of a child's companions. Finally, expressive language is not strongly correlated with peer related social competence, although the complexity of the speech of children with delays is less than that of typically developing children (Guralnick & Groom, 1987).

Research has primarily focused on social-communicative competencies of disabled children in segregated or mainstreamed classrooms (Guralnick, 1981; Guralnick & Groom, 1985; Strain, 1983, 1985). Language variables have included the frequency and complexity of utterances (Guralnick, 1981; Guralnick & Groom 1985, 1987, 1988; Guralnick & Paul-Brown, 1980, 1984). Salisbury, Britzman, & Kang (1989) addressed the question of the underlying intentionality of the social interactions of six mild to severely disabled children by analyzing their initiation behavior, interaction context, and consequences of the child's communications within the social act. These children were in a classroom with other disabled children, within a regular elementary school. Results indicated that the children displayed a consistent set of intentional communicative initiations and used augmentative strategies to continue interactions.

In summary, while there appears to be significant variation in the frequency of preschool children's communicative behavior, it tends to be reciprocal in nature. There is also an emerging ability to sustain conversation by the use of appropriate verbal and non-verbal responses for typically developing children. Successful interactions also appear to be facilitated by the use of attention getting devices. The social-communicative skills of children with developmental delays in peer interactions appear to be similar to matched groups of children who do not have disabilities in some regard. Significant differences emerge, however, in the frequency, quality, and probable success of social exchange with peers.

Peer Interactions

Interest in the study of peer interactions is a relatively recent development, and is no longer considered a mere "by-product" of the fundamental adult-child relationship (Guralnick, 1986). Guralnick (1986) postulates that ultimately peer interactions become a major influence in the lives of most children. Earlier research has demonstrated the influence of peer interactions on the development of children's social and communicative competencies (Hartup, 1976, 1978; Jenkins, Odom, & Speltz, 1989). To fully understand the peer interactions of children with disabilities we need to first draw on the study of

peer relations with typically developing children (Guralnick, 1986). This section will provide an overview of normal developmental characteristics of peer interactions followed by an examination of social interactions of children with disabilities. It will conclude with the peer interactions between typically developing children and children with disabilities.

An interest in peers emerges in the first year of life. At this stage, an infant displays a stable 50% success rate in eliciting a response from a peer. Social interactions at this stage rarely extend beyond simple initiation-response sequences (Vandell, Wilson, & Buchanan, 1980). By the toddler's second year initiations and responses to peers steadily increase and become more complex, longer, and more varied (Eckerman, Whatley, & Kutz, 1975; Holmberg, 1980; Mueller & Brenner, 1977). Communication, both verbal and non-verbal, become more important to the interaction. By 3 years of age, extended social exchanges with peers now exceed the frequency of elaborated exchanges with adults (Holmberg, 1980). Gradually language and discourse skills become the primary means of social exchange. Cairns (1986) delineates the major interactive/social characteristics associated with the early childhood period as:

- the beginning of strong reciprocity in interchanges.
- rapid development in synchronizing interactions with peers and movement toward predominant relations with peers.
- balance of interruptive interchanges shifts to co-ordinated movement from sensorimotor, non-verbal signals and communication to verbal communicative patterns.
- dominant dyadic patterns, as opposed to small group.

It has been demonstrated that early peer interactions are related to developmental progress, communicative competence, and academic success (Hendrickson, Strain, Tremblay, & Shores, 1931; Strain & Odom, 1986). Peer social relationships may also promote or deter a child's social adjustment, development, and cognitive growth in later years (Hartup, 1978, 1983; Parker & Asher, 1987).

Perhaps the most important index of social competence with peers is the ability to participate with other children in sustained social play (Guralnick, 1986).

Communication and language play an ever increasing role in regulating children's play interactions (Garvey, 1976). Goldstein and Gallagher (1992) conclude the goal of young children's peer interactions is the co-ordination of interactive temporal play sequences. The lowest level of play for these young children is parallel play, which is the least verbally demanding and has the lowest potential for disagreement and conflict. However, it is also the least satisfying socially. Nonstereotyped fantasy play is the highest level of play, which also places the greatest verbal demands upon children. Goldstein and Gallagher summarize the impact of language facility on play and social interactions for young children by stating, "children who have limited receptive and/or expressive language skills would have limited co-ordinated play partner potential and, therefore, not be highly valued interaction partners" (p. 193). Therefore, the inability or lack of skills to engage in discourse during play can severely undermine the development of peer interactions.

Children with developmental delays, communication impairments, sensory or motor impairments, or some combination of problems are at great risk for failure to develop social interactions with their peers (Guralnick, 1986; Craig, 1993; Gallagher, 1991, 1993). Disabled children's peer interactions appear to be characterized by a limited repertoire of peer-related social behaviours (Field, 1980), a lack of sustained social exchanges with peers (Craig, 1993; Craig & Evans, 1989), and a predominance of solitary and parallel play (Guralnick & Weinhouse, 1984). Developmentally delayed preschool children's social interactions show fewer social bids, fewer positive responses, and reduced amounts of social interaction in group play (Guralnick & Groom, 1985, 1987; Guralnick and Weinhouse, 1984). A final significant finding of Guralnick and Weinhouse (1984) indicates that the peer social interactions of developmentally delayed children lag substantially behind their cognitive development. While the children in their study did become more socially interactive with their peers over the course of the year,

the beginning of the next school year marked disruptions in their apparently highly fragile repertoire of peer-related social interaction skills.

As Guralnick (1986) points out, it is important that these conclusions be placed in perspective. Threats to the validity of these studies centre on a limited number of studies and outcome measures, brief periods of observation, and indirect comparisons with typically developing children. The majority of studies were conducted in segregated special education settings. Despite these methodological problems, it appears that failure to build peer relationships and the absence of appropriate peer models may deter and hinder social motivation and social skill development (Guralnick, 1986).

While co-equal interactions seem to be the rule for most typically developing children, a dominance by one member of the pair is more characteristic when the other member of the pair is of a lower developmental status or younger chronological age (Guralnick & Paul-Brown, 1977, 1980). Preschool children are capable of adjusting their communicative interactions in accordance with listener attributes. Guralnick and Paul-Brown (1977, 1980, 1984, 1986) have reported that typically developing children make adjustments in their complexity of language (sentence length and syntactic complexity), function (use of more directives), style, and related features when interacting with both children of a younger chronological age and children functioning at a lower developmental level. These adjustments are more significant when the communicative partner is moderately to severely delayed, rather than if mildly delayed (Guralnick & Paul Brown, 1986, 1989). These children may also reduce the complexity of play routines with developmentally delayed children (Peterson & Haralick, 1977). Goldstein and Kazmarek (1992) point out that while these natural adaptations of social and verbal behaviours work to the advantage of children with disabilities, other natural adaptations may not be so desirable. An adaptation to the frequency of utterance of the social partner implies that the less a child with disabilities talks, the less likely the nondisabled child will initiate. Results of studies investigating effects of age groupings on communicative adjustments to peers with disabilities suggest children who are developing typically appear to adapt their speech in what is believed to be a facilitative manner to the level of

their listener (Roberts, Burchinal & Bailey 1994; Wellman & Lempers, 1977). Hartup (1983) concluded after reviewing the results of numerous studies that same age-settings may be the most facilitative for children acquiring skills needed in extended reciprocal interactions, such as conversation. Mixed-age settings however, were also thought to encourage more assertiveness, help-giving, and nurturing behavior and prompt the seeking of assistance. Hartup further suggested that mixed age groups may be the most facilitative for children with disabilities.

In summary, an interest in peers emerges early within the first year of life and quickly becomes a major source of social interaction by age 3. The social interactions of preschool children are dependent upon their ability to engage in sustained co-ordinated play which requires increasingly more complex verbal discourse abilities. Children with developmental delays and disabilities are at great risk for establishing peer relationships given their deficits in communication and play skills. After reviewing 22 studies of integrated settings, Odom and McEvoy (1988) conclude that, overall, typically developing children tend to interact more frequently than moderately or severely delayed peers. Also, typically developing children prefer to interact with typically developing peers than with peers who are moderately or severely delayed. Rice and her colleagues (Gertner, Rice, & Hadley, 1994; Hadley & Rice, 1991; Rice, 1993; Rice et al., 1991) demonstrated that the preferred conversational partners in an integrated preschool setting were generally those with normally developing language skills. Cavallaro & Porter (1980) indicated that developmentally delayed preschool children prefer to interact with children of the same developmental level. While typically developing peers may interact more frequently with other typically developing peers, integrated settings have been shown to stimulate children with disabilities to become involved in more social-communicative interactions overall (Beckman & Kohl, 1984; Devoney, Guralnick, & Rubin, 1974; Paul, 1985; Peterson & Haralick, 1977). Guralnick and Groom (1988) found that children with disabilities engaged in longer interactions with typically developing children than in other (segregated) settings. Ispa (1981) found a higher rate of social interaction and an improved quality of play for disabled children in integrated

settings. Further, integrated settings that consist of mix-age groupings may be the most facilitative for children with disabilities.

A Framework For Social-Communicative Peer Interactions

Guralnick (1992) recently described a hierarchical model in an attempt to provide a comprehensive framework for understanding factors that influence young children's peer related social competence. At the first level are specific social/communicative skills essential for child-child interactions that include influences of the fundamental developmental domains of language, cognitive, affective, and motor development. At the second level an integration, organization and sequencing of social/communicative skills produce strategies within a social task. He states these strategies appear to be most closely associated with peer related competence.

It is evident that developmental domains influence social competence and, conversely, developmental domains are influenced by social competence. Odom and colleagues (1992) point out that cognitive or communication impairments may impede a child's capacity to engage in peer interactions, which may in turn inhibit the development of social competence. Rice (1993) outlines what she has termed the "Social Consequences Account" of limited language skill (p. 150). She distinguishes between socialization as a source of language learning and language as a tool of socialization, but maintains that they are intricately intertwined. Thus, children with limited language are in "double jeopardy" by virtue of their inability to fully realize socialization as a source of language, and at the same time, they are at risk for participation in social interactions. Rice further explains how young children with communication limitations become vulnerable to a negative social spiral. To begin with, these children lack the skills and flexibility for easy entry into, and maintenance of social discourse with their peers. Because of these limitations they are more likely to be ignored, rejected or excluded from peer interactions.

It becomes very clear that the focus of investigation must be the interrelationship of social and communicative development as outlined in Guralnick's framework. For the

preschool child, peers become a major source of socialization. Goldstein and Gallagher (1992) state that a sense of social support and self esteem is obtained from peer relationships. These authors also state that equally important, peers also serve as an important means by which children learn critical communication skills related to things such as the importance of clear communication, effective interpersonal perspective taking, communicative appropriateness, and "the role of communication in the social commerce of daily life" (p. 195). They go so far as to contend that peers not only may be the most effective teachers of appropriate child communicative skills, but may actually be the only ones who can impart some of this knowledge. It is therefore of primary importance that the ways in which disabled children's social-communicative skills affect their social interactions in different environments with their peers be investigated further.

Integration

The practice of providing the least restrictive environment for children with disabilities has resulted in a variety of programs. Integration is the more generic term referring to the process of actively mixing children with disabilities and those developing typically (Odom & McEvoy, 1988). It encompasses mainstreaming, reverse integration and all other models that place disabled children and nondisabled children together in varying ways and ratios.

Mainstreaming is the placement of children with disabilities into programs for and with typically developing children (Karnes & Lee, 1979). These are settings in which more than 50 % of the children are typically developing (Odom & McEvoy, 1988). The placement of typically developing children into programs for disabled children is termed reverse integration (Guralnick, 1981). These are settings in which more than 50% of the children are disabled (Odom & McEvoy, 1988). Segregation is the placement of homogeneous groups of children (individuals who are similar to each other) together, for example, children who are all typically developing or all disabled.

The movement towards integration of disabled children with their typically developing peers began in earnest in the late 1960's and early 1970's. The practice of

placing children with disabilities in the least restrictive environment is grounded in the principle of normalization. This principle can be defined as the "utilization of means which are as culturally normative as possible, in order to establish and/or maintain personal behaviours and characteristics which are as culturally normative as possible" (Wolfensberger, 1972, p.28). This movement has been supported by the passage of P.L. 94-142 in the 1970's and then P.L. 99-457 in 1986 in the United States. The legislative intent of these public laws has been to educate children, with and without disabilities, in the same classrooms wherever possible, including children of preschool age (Striefel, Killoran, and Quintero, 1991). While Canada has not passed similar federal legislation, local educational systems themselves have established policies regarding least restrictive environments and inclusion. Practical application of these principles has resulted in the development of a wide variety of programs where disabled children are educated with their typically developing peer group and engage in activities similar to those practiced by these peers. Developmental theories suggest development can be facilitated and enhanced for children with disabilities by being placed with typically developing models. Piagetian theories and social learning theories lead to the conclusion that the presence of typically developing peers can provide an opportunity for disabled children to learn ageappropriate behaviours and be challenged to develop more advanced skills (Bricker, 1978; Karnes & Lee, 1979). Integrating children with disabilities and typically developing peers provides the potential to create a more demanding environment for the disabled child. Hypothetically, teachers and peers may expect and encourage behaviour that would produce significant changes in the disabled child's repertoire. Additionally, disabled children may acquire new behaviours from observing and modelling others' behaviour (Bricker, 1978). Segregated settings are limited in the number and variety of partners for interaction, and for modelling. Experience with a broad range of peers is considered necessary for maximal achievement and healthy cognitive and social development (Johnson & Johnson, 1980).

Researchers have attempted to closely monitor the effects of integration upon the young children involved in these programs. Odom & McEvoy (1988), after reviewing 10

studies, concluded that generally, preschool children with disabilities made significant developmental gains in integrated programs that were not attributable to maturation alone. Because these studies lacked an experimental control group it could not be determined if the effects of the program were due to the exposure to typically developing peers, the classroom curriculum, or an interaction of the two (Odom & McEvoy, 1988). Studies where children were randomly assigned to a segregated or integrated program showed mixed results in cognitive, communicative or motor development. However where programming for social integration (with normal peers) was also provided, children in the integrated program scored higher on language development (Jenkins, Speltz, & Odom, 1985; Jenkins et al., 1989). Weiss & Nakamura (1992) investigated the efficacy of enrolling typically developing preschool children as models for a group of language impaired children in a university preschool classroom. Results indicated that despite having the prerequisite language competencies for modelling age appropriate language behaviours, the models varied in the amount of time each spent with their language impaired classmates. A meta analysis conducted by Wang and Baker (1985) showed integrated school age students with disabilities in either a full-time or part time mainstreamed program, outperformed segregated disabled students matched for similar classifications of disability. Results of the meta analysis of 11 studies provided support for the effectiveness of integration in improving performance, attitudinal and process outcomes for students with disabilities.

The results of the research reviewed above are not always consistent, nor without limitations. The settings, ratios of disabled children, ratios of adults, level of teacher training, observational periods, and outcome measures have varied significantly. Despite the theoretical assertion that exposure to typically developing peers could contribute to skill acquisition for children with disabilities, research has not demonstrated that physical integration alone contributes to positive developmental outcomes (Odom & McEvoy, 1988). However, where systematic structuring of interactions takes place in integrated settings, positive results have been shown. Several intervention techniques including script training for sociodramatic play (Goldstein, Wickstrom, Hoyson, Jamieson, &

Odom, 1988), peer mediated intervention (Odom, Hoyson, Jamieson, & Strain, 1985; Strain, 1985; Strain, Shores, & Tirmm, 1977; Tremblay, Strain, Hendrickson, & Shores, 1981), and teacher mediated intervention (Odom & Strain, 1986) have been used effectively to increase social interaction rates of young children with and without disabilities. While these interventions have produced favourable outcomes during training and therapy conditions, there has been a limited demonstration of generalization across settings or children (Chandler & Lubeck, 1992; McEvoy & Odom, 1987; Odom & Strain, 1984).

The presence of disabled peers also provides an opportunity for typically developing peers to develop positive attitudes towards differences in others and foster tolerance and understanding. Integration can lead to more positive attitudes and greater acceptance of disabled children on the part of teachers and peers (Esposito & Peach, 1983; Esposito & Reed, 1986). Early studies examining integrated versus segregated settings found a difference in the attitudes of nondisabled children towards severely handicapped peers as a consequence of social contact between the two groups (Voeltz, 1980, 1982). The evidence suggests strongly that typically developing children are not adversely affected by enrolment in integrated classrooms, and may in fact demonstrate developmental benefits from the curriculum and specialized instruction (Odom & McEvoy, 1988).

Rational for Study

Building on Guralnick (1990, 1992) and Odom and Brown (1993) the term social-communicative competence will be used in this study to refer to children's effective and appropriate use of social-communicative behaviours in their interactions with communicative partners. For the child with developmental delays, being able to initiate and respond appropriately in conversational contexts, as well as responding to initiations of others seems to be critical for the development of meaningful social relationships in an integrated setting. The need for further systematic investigation in this area has been expressed by many researchers. Ostrosky et al. (1993) state that research

needs to further explore the relationships between children with and children without special needs. Specifically, "descriptive studies that assist in specifying behaviours that lead to development of peer relationships ... are necessary to advance peer mediated social-communicative research" (p. 180). These authors also state that future research should consider the settings in which social-communicative interactions are to occur. Goldstein and Kaczmarek (1992) state descriptive research is needed to expand our empirical foundation. Studies that focus on communicative function may help to identify additional facilitative strategies to expand the current set of peer mediated intervention strategies, and also enhance communicative repertoires of children with disabilities. Guralnick & Paul-Brown (1989) concluded that differences in pragmatic aspects of disabled children's communicative competence may emerge if the focus of analysis turns to issues of appropriateness and effectiveness of communicative turns. Finally, there is a need to look at the nature of interactions between children with disabilities and their communicative partners to further clarify the effects of integration (Odom, Peterson, McConnell, & Ostrosky, 1990).

This study sought to investigate the social-communicative interactions of young children with developmental delays and their counterparts in integrated settings. How these children performed as initiators of conversation and respondents to other's initiations was of specific interest. The specific purpose of this study was to compare a descriptive analysis of the social-communicative interactions of a group of developmentally delayed preschool children between two conditions of integration. The Early Education Programs of the Edmonton Public Schools served as reversed integration settings. Community daycares in Edmonton, Alberta served as mainstreamed integrated settings.

Research Questions

- 1. (a) Do developmentally delayed preschool children attempt social-communicative initiations more often in a reversed (REV) or mainstreamed (MAIN) integrated setting?
 - (b) Are these initiations successful (i. e. receive an appropriate response) more often in REV or MAIN?
- 2. Do these children attempt appropriate responses more often in REV or MAIN?
- 3. Are interactions reciprocal more often in a REV or MAIN setting?
- 4. Are successful initiations across REV and MAIN more likely to be behavior regulation, social interaction, or joint attention)?
- 5. (a) Are successful initiations of developmentally delayed preschool children preceded by or concurrent with an attention getting device?
 - (b) Are successful initiations of communicative partners preceded by or concurrent with an attention getting device?

CHAPTER 3

Method

Subjects

Developmentally delayed children

The subjects were six preschool children with moderate to severe developmental delays. They were between the ages of 4 years 8 months and 5 years 10 months. All subjects were recruited from the three Early Education Programs (EEP) administered through the Edmonton Public Schools. Acceptance into these programs is based on established criteria of the Program Unit Grant (PUG), developed by Alberta Education, for moderate and severe developmental delays. Information regarding each subject's cognitive, communicative, social-emotional, and motor development was obtained from EEP student cumulative records. These records contain multiple sources of information, including diagnostic and assessment data from rehabilitation hospitals, health centres, or previously attended programs. Based on this information, program staff assign a degree of delay for the four areas of development. This information is displayed in Table 1.

Subjects also had to be ambulatory and at or above the intentional stage of communication. That is, the child needed to demonstrate prelinguistic gestures, vocalizations or verbalizations directed toward another person for the purpose of communication (Wetherby & Prizant, 1993). No subject had a primary diagnosis of autism, pervasive developmental disorder, attention deficit disorder, emotional disturbance, or any other psychiatric disorder nor did any subject present with a diagnosed sensory impairment (hearing impairment, legal blindness). Of particular importance to this study, subjects were enrolled in an EEP for half days and concurrently attended a community mainstreamed daycare program for the other half of the day. Appropriate consent forms were signed by parents of the subjects, parents of EEP and daycare peers and EEP and daycare staff. See Appendices C-E.

Over the course of the study, it became clear that subject 6 differed from the other subjects in a number of significant ways. While being "technically" ambulatory, he

required the use of a wheelchair or walker for longer distances and ambulated in small areas by dragging or crawling. All other subjects could walk and run without assistance. This appeared to have a significant impact on his ability to physically approach peers and "keep up" with them. Secondly, subject 6, while meeting the criterion of intentional communication, was substantially more delayed than the other subjects. He was the oldest subject but the lowest functioning in all domains. Subject 6 displayed a single nonverbal symbolic communicative act (i. e., sign for "want"). The other five subjects were verbal and exhibited multi-word utterances. Finally, subject 6 was identified as dependent level handicapped. This indicated that S6 was not considered to be functioning independently and required a greater degree of assistance then the other "independent" level subjects. Consequently, subject 6 was analyzed separately from the other subjects.

Table 1: Characteristics of developmentally delayed subjects.

Developmental Delay								
subject	case history information	CA*	cognition	communication	motor	social		
SI	global delay	5 years 4 months	mild-moderate	moderate-severe	mild	moderate		
S2	failure to thrive; cleft palate; seizure	5 years 0 months	mild-moderate	severe	mild hypotonia	mild		
S 3	premature; global delay	4 years 8 months	mild-moderate	moderate	normal	mild		
S4	global delay	4 years 7 months	mild-moderate	severe	normal	mild- moderate		
S5	Rubenstein- Taybi syndrome	5 years 3 months	severe	severe	moderate	moderate		
\$6	Athetoid CP; developmental delay secondary to CMV	5 years 10 months	severe	severe-profound	severe	severe		

^{*} chronological age at midpoint of videotaping

Communicative partners

Although the primary interest of this study was the developmentally delayed subjects, social-communicative partners including peers and adults in both settings were included in the coding and data analysis. Peers were children who were between 3 years and 6 years of age with and without identified developmental delays. Adults were teachers, aides, and daycare staff who interacted with the developmentally delayed subjects.

Materials and Instrumentation

A hand held Panasonic Omnimovie VHS video recorder was used to videotape interaction samples. Audio input was provided by a Samson wireless microphone housed in a vest worn by the subject. Each subject was conditioned to the vest by wearing it for 30 minutes prior to videotaping.

Setting

The settings in this study were reverse and mainstreamed integration. Reverse integration was defined as an EEP setting in which there were greater numbers of children with developmental delays than typically developing children. Mainstreamed integration was defined as a community daycare setting in which the number of typically developing children was greater than the number of children with developmental delays.

The subjects attended the reverse integration EEP classroom five half days per week (either all mornings or all afternoons) and attended the mainstreamed daycare for the other half of the day. The six subjects each attended a different EEP classroom, with two classrooms per three different sites. The six subjects each attended a different mainstreamed daycare room at five sites. The two subjects attending the same daycare, but different rooms, also attended the same EEP site in different classrooms.

During videotaping, the EEP classrooms typically consisted of one or two adults and 4 to 8 children. Children in the EEP classrooms were grouped heterogeneously for disorders and developmental levels. The daycare rooms were more varied in their makeup. There were typically 2 or 3 adults present, however these adults were not

always the same ones. The number of children in the group also varied, ranging from three to twenty. Five daycare rooms were mixed-age groups and one daycare room was a same-age group.

Sampling was done during that portion of the subjects' day when opportunity for child-child/child-adult interactions without structured teaching was greatest. Samples were therefore videorecorded in both settings during designated "free play" or "centre" time. Play centres in both settings contained developmentally appropriate toys and materials. Common play areas included the house centre, water/sand tables, book centre, manipulative toy centre, blocks, and art/craft centre. Generally, adult scaffolding of peer to peer interactions did not occur during this time. The use of peers as intervention agents was not observed during sampling.

Procedure

Design

This study was a comparative within-group design.

Sampling

Two videotaped samples of approximately thirty minutes were taken during free play time in each of the settings to ensure the representativeness of the sample. The length of samples varied slightly due to scheduling constraints in the various classrooms and daycares. A total of twenty-four videotaped samples was therefore collected for six subjects (four samples each). Each sample was taken on different days but all videotaping was completed within 4 weeks to control for maturation effects. Sampling between the two settings was done in random order to control for order effects.

Coding

The coding protocol for this analysis was a modification of the rating of communicative parameters in the *Communication and Symbolic Behavior Scales* (*CSBS*), (Wetherby & Prizant, 1993), which is designed to examine communicative, social affective, and symbolic abilities of developmentally young children. The reported internal consistency coefficient for the *CSBS* communication composite is .91 based on

the entire sample and .84 based on the sample of children at the multiword stage. The data provided suggest that the CSBS can produce relatively stable rankings of subjects, even when those subjects exhibit improvement over a short period of time. Interrater reliability was reported to be .90, .88, and .83 for the three raters. The reader is referred to the CSBS manual for further description of reliability and validity of this instrument.

Whereas the CSBS utilises child-adult interactions, this study was interested in child-child and child-adult interactions. The coding protocol for this study is provided in Appendix A. Definition of codes is provided in Appendix B. The communicative act column was marked with the time at one minute intervals for each video sample. The initiator was identified as the subject, peer, or adult. Communicative initiations were then coded by their intended communicative function. Those functions were joint attention. joint attention question, behavior regulation, behavior regulation protest, and social interaction. The initiation was identified as to mode (verbal or nonverbal) of communication¹. Finally, the initiation was coded by the presence or absence of an attention getting device, including increased physical proximity, eye contact, touch, a vocative such as "hey", or addressee's name. The addressee was identified for each communicative initiation as subject, peer, or adult. The response of the addressee was coded as appropriate or no response. An appropriate response was one that acknowledged or complied with the communicative function of the initiation. A no response was coded when three seconds or more elapsed after the initiation, or the addressee ignored the initiator or left the play area. Mode of response was again identified as verbal or nonverbal. Subsequent contingent responses from the subject and communicative partner were coded sequentially on the respondent side of the coding sheet. A reciprocal exchange occurred when the subject took more than two turns (inclusive of an initiation and /or responses) within a communicative exchange. A new communicative initiation was coded if the communicative act was a change in topic or if more than 3 seconds has elapsed since the previous act.

¹ Although collected, mode was not used in the analysis because, except for S6, all subjects were verbal.

Reliability

Coding of the video tapes was completed by the principal investigator. A random sample of 20% of the videotaped samples in each condition was recoded. Two graduate students in speech language pathology served as reliability judges. They were trained on the use of the coding system by the principal investigator using taped segments that were not part of the data. They each recoded 10% of the data. Overall point by point agreement (McReynolds & Kearns, 1986) was 94%. Point by point agreement was determined for specific coding categories: initiations 96%, communicative function 86%, mode of communication 98%, attention getting device 86%, addressee 98%, response 95%, and mode of response 98%.

CHAPTER 4

Results

The purpose of this study was to compare the social-communicative interactions of developmentally delayed preschool children across reverse integration in an early education program and mainstreamed integration in a community daycare. A group of six children enrolled in both settings during the day presented a unique opportunity to investigate these two types of integrated settings.

Comparisons involved both subjects and communicative partners. Subject 6 was not included in the group data analysis as previously stated but his performance is presented in relation to the group results for each question. Data were entered into the SPSS statistical program. The paired samples *t*-test (Bruning & Kintz, 1987) was used to analyze the data for questions 1, 2, 3, and 5. A Bonferroni correction was used to correct for the effect of multiple comparisons on Type I error. The original alpha level was set at .10 following the guidelines of Huberty (1987) for exploratory studies with multiple comparisons. There were five subject comparisons. The original alpha level of .10 was divided by five resulting in a statistical criterion of .020. A *t* value larger than 3.747 (df = 4) was required for statistical significance. There were six partner comparisons. The original alpha level of .10 was divided by six resulting in a statistical criterion of .017. A *t* value larger than 3.747 (df = 4) was required for statistical significance. Question 4 was analyzed with the use of descriptive statistics. Questions and corresponding data are provided below. Rates and proportions were used because of variation in sample length.

1. (a) <u>Do developmentally delayed preschool children attempt social-communicative</u>

<u>initiations more often in a reversed (REV) or a mainstreamed (MAIN) integrated</u>

<u>setting?</u>

Rate of initiations per minute was computed by dividing the total number of initiations by time for each subject in each setting. No significant difference was found

for the rate of initiations between REV (M = 1.1244) and MAIN (M = 1.2652), t(4) = .99, 2-tail p = .378. Subject 6 demonstrated very low rates of initiation in both settings REV (M = .1250) and MAIN (M = .1670).

(b) Are these initiations successful (i. e. receive an appropriate response) more often in REV or MAIN?

The proportion of appropriate partner responses to total subject initiations for each subject in each setting was calculated. No significant difference was found between REV (M = .5676) and MAIN (M = .5078), t(4) = 1.95, 2-tail p = .123. Subject 6 demonstrated a higher proportion of successful initiations in MAIN (M = .875) than REV (M = .375), however all responses in MAIN were from adults only. Subject 6's results were also based on an extremely small number of subject initiations (7 and 8 respectively).

2. Do these children attempt appropriate responses more often in REV or MAIN?

Rate of partner initiations was determined first as the context for this question. Partner initiation rate was calculated by total partner initiations divided by time. A significantly higher rate of partner initiations was found for REV (M = 1.6506) than MAIN (M = 1.2194), t(4) = -6.06, 2-tail p = .004. All five subjects reflected the group effect. Subject 6 demonstrated the opposite effect with partner initiations higher in MAIN (M = 3.078) than REV (M = 2.125).

The proportion of appropriate subject responses to partner initiations for each subject in each setting was then calculated. No significant difference was found between REV (M = .5196) and MAIN (M = .5510), t(4) = .76, 2-tail p = .488. Subject 6 reflected the group performance in REV (M = .350) and MAIN (M = .480).

Because subjects may have produced responsive acts subsequent to the initial appropriate response to a given partner initiation (i.e., reciprocal exchange), the overall rate of responding was also determined. This was calculated by dividing the total number of subject responses (i.e. responses to initiations and any additional contingent responses) by the time of the sample in each setting. No difference was found between

REV (M = 2.02) and MAIN (M = 1.4576), t(4) = -2.52, 2-tail p = .065. Subject 6 demonstrated a reverse pattern in REV (M = 1.290) and MAIN (M = 1.480).

3. Are interactions reciprocal in nature more often in REV or MAIN setting?

The total number of reciprocal exchanges (interactions extending beyond two turns) was divided by time for each subject in each setting to determine the rate of reciprocal exchanges. No significant difference for rate of reciprocal exchanges was found in the settings REV (M = .5805) and MAIN (M = .4804), t(4) = -.99, 2-tail p = .377. Subject 6 demonstrated a reverse pattern in REV (M = .208) and MAIN (M = .208).

4. Are successful initiations across REV and MAIN more likely to be behavior regulation, social interaction, or joint attention)?

The proportion of appropriate responses to initiations by communicative function of joint attention, joint attention question, behavior regulation, behavior regulation protest, and social interaction was calculated. Table 2 illustrates the proportions of communicative function combined across the five subjects and combined across settings.

Table 2: Proportion of appropriate responses to initiation by communicative function.

Communicative function	ratio receiving appropriate response		
joint attention	.443		
joint attention question	.607		
behavior regulation	.544		
behavior regulation protest	.348		
social interaction	.419		

Visual inspection of the data reveals successful initiations are not strongly related to communicative function with possibly the exception of behavior regulation protest. It is important to note that the percentage of initiations that were behavior regulation protest was extremely small, less than 8% of all initiations. The predominant communicative functions used by the subjects were joint attention comprising

approximately 48 % of all initiations and behavior regulation comprising approximately 31%. Joint attention question and social interaction were used infrequently, comprising approximately 4% each of all initiations.

5. (a) Are successful initiations of developmentally delayed preschool children preceded by or concurrent with an attention getting device (AGD)?

All five subjects used an attention getting device at some time. The proportion of use was determined by dividing the number of initiations with an AGD by the total number of initiations for each subject in each setting (Table 3).

Table 3: Proportion of use of an attention ge	etting device with	a subject	initiation.
---	--------------------	-----------	-------------

REV	MAIN
.286	.327
.541	.525
.263	.263
.646	.514
.326	.258
	.286 .541 .263 .646

There was no significant difference in the proportion of use of an AGD between REV (M = .4124) and MAIN (M = .3774), t(4) = -.1.17, 2-tail p = .307.

The proportion of appropriate responses to initiations with an AGD and the proportion of appropriate responses to initiations without an AGD were compared for REV and MAIN. Results for REV indicate a significant difference between initiations with an AGD resulting in an appropriate response (M = .742) and initiations without an AGD resulting in an appropriate response (M = .399), t(4) = -4.10, 2-tail p = .015. A significant difference was also found for MAIN between initiations with an AGD resulting in an appropriate response (M = .769) and initiations without an AGD resulting in an appropriate response (M = .3768), t(4) = -10.69.10, 2-tail p = .0001. Subject 6 did not use an AGD in either setting.

(b) Are successful initiations of communicative partners (peers and adults) preceded by or concurrent with an attention getting device?

All five groups of communicative partners used an attention getting device at some time. The proportion of use was determined by dividing the number of partner initiations with an AGD by the total number of partner initiations for each subject in each setting (Table 4).

Table 4: Proportion of use of an attention getting device with a partner initiation.

Communicative partners	REV	MAIN	
S1	.487	.739	
S2	.451	.609	
S3	.437	.349	
S4	.613	.304	
S 5	.561	.558	

There was no significant difference in the proportion of partner use of an AGD between REV (M = .5098) and MAIN (M = .5118), t(4) = .02, 2-tail p = .985.

The proportion of appropriate subject responses to partner initiations with an AGD and the proportion of appropriate subject responses to partner initiations without an AGD were compared for REV and MAIN. In REV there was a significant difference between initiations with an AGD resulting in an appropriate response (M = .820) and initiations without an AGD resulting in an appropriate response (M = .472), I(4) = 8.04, 2-tail P = .001. A significant difference was also found for MAIN between initiations with an AGD resulting in an appropriate response (M = .7512) and initiations without an AGD resulting in an appropriate response (M = .4440), I(4) = -7.16, 2-tail P = .002.

CHAPTER 5

Discussion

Effects of Setting on Initiations and Responses

The developmentally delayed preschool subjects in this study did not attempt more initiations, nor were these initiations any more successful, in a reverse integrated or mainstreamed setting. Further, the success of an initiation did not appear to be related to its communicative function. What might account for these findings? While the two settings differed in the ratio of typical to disordered children, they may in fact not have differed significantly on a potentially more influential factor. Roberts, Burchinal, and Baily (1994) state that the quality of a communicative interaction appears to be a function of both communicative partner's skills. They postulate that differences in levels of communicative competence may greatly affect how children talk and modify their communication to their conversational partners. They hypothesize that these differences in communicative competence may be reflected in the frequency of children's interactions, who their communicative partners are, and how they use language. As well, it should affect the language input they receive from other communicative partners. These researchers found that interactions between pre-schoolers with disabilities and their peers without disabilities were influenced by classroom grouping. In mixed-age groups children both with and without disabilities took more turns in conversation with partners with disabilities than did children in same-age classes. Children with disabilities in the mixed-age classes took more turns in interactions with peers and had proportionality more interactions that were responses rather than initiations. The researchers stated that access to conversational partners of different developmental levels may provide exposure to different levels of language and account for the differences seen in mixed-age and same-age groupings. The mainstreamed daycare rooms in this study were predominantly mixed-age groupings. The reverse integrated preschool rooms were all comprised of children who were functioning at varying developmental levels. The

availability of conversational partners of different developmental levels and communicative competence may not have been significantly different between the two settings.

It is also possible that the apparent lack of differences were due to setting generalization. Certainly it could be predicted that social and communication skills as well as style of interaction would generalize across settings. The direction of any generalization however, cannot be determined from this study. Moreover, potential effects of individual settings are obscured by setting generality.

From a clinical standpoint, neither setting appeared to promote an adequate rate of initiation for these subjects. Research on typically developing children shows average rates of initiation for preschoolers be around 3 to 6 acts per minute (Garvey and Bendebba, 1975; Mueller, 1972; Tremblay, Strain, Hendrickson, and Shores, 1981). The children in this study demonstrated alarmingly low rates of initiation, on average just over one per minute, regardless of setting. These results are in keeping with previous findings that the social-communicative skills of disabled children are not commensurate with their general level of development (Guralnick, 1992). The rate of initiation for the children in this study does not appear to be in keeping with their stage of language development. Wetherby, Cain, Yonclas, & Walker (1988) found that normally developing children increased their rate of initiations substantially at the multi-word stage to about 5 acts per minute. Children at the prelinguistic stage produced about one act per minute. A second study found further, that for children with disabilities at the prelinguistic and one word stage, increases in rate were not dependent upon advances in language development (Wetherby, Yonclas, & Bryan, 1989). Wilcox (1995) postulates a "threshold" rate for young children making the transition from prelinguistic to symbolic communication. Her preliminary data shows a rate of approximately one act per minute to be crucial for the emergence of language. The longer it takes to reach this threshold, the later the emergence into symbolic communication, hence the longer the delay persists. She contends that this minimum rate provides enough opportunity to attempt initiations and become "motivated" to develop more sophisticated means of

communication for successful interactions. While the group of children reported here were clearly at a multi-word stage, their rates of initiations were comparable to the normal prelinguistic children in the Wetherby et al. study. They also demonstrated a similar rate to the developmentally delayed children who were emerging into symbolic communication in the Wilcox study. During optimal time for play and social interaction, the children in this study appeared to not have moved much beyond the "threshold" rate seen in children at younger ages and lower language levels. Subject 6, who was at least prelinguistic and at most emergent at the symbolic communication stage, demonstrated initiations well below the threshold rate.

The likelihood that these subjects would receive an appropriate response was, on average, only 50%. These findings are consistent with previous research on children with developmental and communicative disabilities (Guralnick & Paul-Brown, 1989; Hadley & Rice, 1991; Odom and McEvoy, 1988; Rice, Sell, & Hadley, 1991).

It was also apparent that the subjects did not produce appropriate responses to partner initiations more often in one setting or the other. In addition, there was no difference in the overall rate of response when responsive acts in reciprocal exchanges were included. On average, the subjects engaged in one to two responsive acts per minute and responded to only half of all partner initiations. While reciprocal exchanges occurred, the rate as well as length of reciprocal exchanges was low. The rate did not differ between settings. On average, one reciprocal exchange occurred every two minutes. The length varied for each subject, but ranged from three to five turns. Subject 6 only engaged in reciprocal exchanges that were highly familiar social routines. These exchanges were reliant upon an adult initiation and scaffolding and did not occur with a peer.

Difficulty with reciprocity and engaging in extended conversations is consistent with previous research with communicatively impaired children (McTear, 1985; Wetherby & Prizant, 1993). Furthermore the low proportion of appropriate subject responses to initiations may be accounted for by the low rate of partner initiations. Although a statistical difference was found between settings for rate of partner

initiations, the clinical significance of that finding is an imperical question. On average, partners initiated to the subjects only 1.5 times per minute. These low rates may have been insufficient to promote higher levels of responding from the subjects. As previous studies have shown, the frequency with which children receive initiations from peers is correlated to the frequency of their own initiations (Beringer & Garvey, 1981; Charlesworth and Hartup, 1967; Leiter, 1977). This appears true for the children in this study. These findings seem to fit with Rice's (1993) concept of the "Social Consequences Account" of limited language skill (p. 150). As she states, these children are in double jeopardy because of their inability to fully realize interactions with peers as a source of language, and at the same time, they are at risk for participation in social interactions.

In summary, overall rates of initiations and responding appeared so low that these children did not have sufficient opportunity to practice these basic elements of social communicative exchange. The conversational abilities of initiating to others and getting a response as well as receiving and responding to partner initiations certainly appear to be interrelated. Free play in each setting did not appear to promote more than a base rate of initiation, responding or extended social-communicative exchanges. For subject 6, who was much lower functioning than the group of five subjects, initiations rarely occurred and virtually never to a peer. He was responsive to partner initiations, which were predominantly from adults. He engaged in reciprocal exchanges that required non symbolic level responses within a familiar social routine with an adult.

Effectiveness of Attention Getting Devices

Regardless of setting, subjects were much more successful in obtaining an appropriate response and in responding appropriately when there was an attention getting device accompanying the child and partner initiation, respectively. Previous research indicates that attention getting devices should increase the likelihood of a successful initiation by communicatively impaired children. Rice, Sell, and Hadley (1991) and Hadley and Rice (1991) investigated the social interactions and conversations of

language impaired children in an integrated preschool program and indeed found differences in the interactions of the language impaired preschool children when compared to their normal peers. At least part of the difference in social interaction was thought to be attributable to the *responses* of the peers. The language impaired children initiated less frequently than their normal peers, however, more interestingly they were ignored more by all peers. These investigators attributed this finding in part to attention elicitation. They speculated that the language impaired children were less likely to gain their partner's attention prior to initiating, therefore "if they did not first gain attention by using... appropriate conversational devices, their initiation attempts may have been less likely to connect with their interlocutors" (p. 1314).

In addition, the results of the present study show that developmentally delayed subjects were much more responsive to partner initiations that included an attention getting device. This is supported by McTear (1985) who has identified attention getting devices as a strategy for reinitiations, which occur when there has been a failure by the child to respond to the first initiation. Consequently, attention getting devices appear to be an important component of successful communication, including both initiations and reinitiations. Clinically then, teaching young children to use attention getting devices would appear to be an important intervention strategy for promoting successful initiations and conversational repairs. Conversely, training communicative partners to use attention getting devices might help to promote more reliable appropriate responding by a developmentally delayed child.

While developmentally delayed children may demonstrate deficits in syntax and semantics, it would appear that it is their pragmatic difficulties that significantly hinder communicative attempts. Improving a child's ability to produce specific language forms may be of little value if he does not initiate to his peers or is generally ignored by them. Subject 6 is a good case in point. This young child was encouraged to use signs, but his rate of initiation was so low that intervention goals may have been misplaced.

In summary then, for any environment to support improved socialcommunicative skills in young children with developmental disabilities, it is crucial that their rate of initiation be increased beyond their typically low base rate. In addition, an increase in the effective use of attention getting devices is pivotal to the success of social-communicative interactions.

Limitations and Implications

Caution must be exercised when interpreting data derived from this small group of subjects. One limitation of this study is the small sample size which puts the results at risk for a Type II error. Secondly, while this small group of subjects met selection criterion and were documented as moderately-severely developmentally delayed, they displayed a range of developmental disabilities. Thus, they must be considered somewhat of a heterogeneous group. Subject six demonstrated such significant differences from the others that it was necessary to exclude his data from the group. Finally, these subjects may represent a unique group of children by virtue of the fact that they were enrolled in two types of integrated settings. It is not known if children enrolled exclusively in a reverse integrated program or a mainstreamed program would show the same results. Future research could compare the social-communicative skills of a larger sample of young children not only across settings but between different groups of children. It should be pointed out however, that a strength of this within subject study is that it controls for the subject variable.

It must be made clear, that the results discussed in this study pertain to the five subjects who comprised the group. It may be that children functioning below a multiword language stage, such as subject 6, would demonstrate different results, however a larger sample is required.

Generalization of findings to other situations or activities within the two settings for these subjects must be done carefully. The observations in this study occurred during "free play", a fairly unstructured time in which adult interaction may have been minimized. Video recording was also done at a time when only daycare staff, teachers and aides were in the room. Throughout the day these children are also engaged in many activities with other adults such as speech language pathologists, physiotherapists,

occupational therapists, and educational consultants who may show differences in how they respond and initiate to these children.

A final limitation of this study is that it is not known if, overall, subjects demonstrated rates that differed from their peers. Data was not obtained for peer performance with partners other than the subjects. There is substantial research to indicate that typically developing peers do initiate more often and usually to other typically developing peers, are more responsive to typically developing peers, and tend to ignore their peers with disabilities. The literature provides a solid base of research to show that simply placing children with disabilities in settings with typically developing peers results in minimal effects on language and social competence. Recent research on targeting social skills in young children and training peers as intervention agents is proving very promising (Goldstein et al., 1988; Odom et al., 1985; Strain, 1985; Strain & Kohler, 1988; Strain et al., 1977; Tremblay et al., 1981).

These findings have implications for delivery of services within speech language pathology. It seems necessary to examine the social-communicative interactions of preschool children with developmental delays and their communicative partners within various integrated settings. More specifically, the competencies assessed should include effective use of attention getting devices. Training young children to use or enhance their use of attention getting devices appears promising, if not crucial, as a relatively simple strategy to increase success of social-communicative interactions.

REFERENCES

- Bates, E. (1979). The emergence of symbols: Cognition and communication in infancy. New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Beckman, P., & Kohl, F. L. (1984). The effects of social and isolate toys on the interactions and play of integrated and nonintegrated groups of preschoolers. Education and Training of the Mentally Retarded, 19, 169-175.
- Beringer, C., & Garvey, C. (1981). Complementary balance in the use of the interrogative form by nursery school dyads. *Journal of Child Language*, 8, 297-311.
- Bricker, D. D. (1978). A rationale for the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped preschool children. In M. J. Guralnick (Ed.), *Early intervention and the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped children* (pp. 3-26). Baltimore, MD: University Park Press.
- Bruning, J. L., & Kintz, B. L. (1987). Computational handbook of Statistics. Glenview, IL: Harper Collins
- Cairns, R. B. (1986). A contemporary perspective on social development. In P. S. Strain, M. J. Guralnick, & H. M. Walker (Eds.), *Children's social behavior* (pp. 3-47). Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Cavallaro, S. B., & Porter, R. H. (1980). Peer preferences of at risk and normally developing children in preschool mainstreamed classrooms. *American Journal of Mental Deficiency*, 84, 357-366.
- Chandler, L. K., Lubeck, R. C., & Fowler, S. A. (1992). Generalization and maintenance of preschool children's social skills: A critical review and analysis. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Analysis*, 25, 415-428.
- Charlesworth, R., & Hartup, W. W. (1967). Positive social reinforcement in the nursery school peer group. *Child Development*, 38, 993-1002.
- Craig, H. K. (1993). Social skills of children with specific language impairment: Peer relationships. *Language*, *Speech and Hearing Services in Schools*, 24, 206-215.
- Craig, H. K., & Evans, J. L. (1989). Turn exchange characteristics of SLI children's simultaneous and nonsimultaneous speech. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Disorders*, 54, 334-346.

- Devoney, C., Guralnick, M. J., & Rubin, H. (1974). Integrating handicapped and nonhandicapped preschool children: Effects on social play. *Childhood Education*, 50, 360-364.
- Eckerman, C. O., Whatley, J. L., & Kutz, S. L. (1975). Growth of social play with peers during the second year of life. *Developmental Psychology*, 11, 42-49.
- Esposito, B. G., & Peach, W. (1983). Changing attitudes of preschool children toward handicapped persons. *Exceptional Children*, 49, 361-363.
- Esposito, B. G., & Reed, T. M. (1986). The effects of contact with handicapped persons in young children's attitudes. *Exceptional Children*, 53, 224-229.
- Field, T. M. (1980). Self, teacher, toy, and peer directed behaviours of handicapped preschool children. In T. M. Field, S. Goldberg, D. Stern, & A. M. Sostek (Eds.), *High risk infants and children: Adult and peer interactions* (pp. 313-326). New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Gallagher, T. M. (1991). Language and social skills: Implications for clinical assessment and intervention with school-age children. In T. M. Gallagher (Ed.), *Pragmatics of language: Clinical practice issues* (pp. 11-41). San Diego, CA: Singular Publishing Group.
- Gallagher, T. M. (1993). Language skill and the development of social competence in school-age children. Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 24, 199-205.
- Gallagher, T. M., & Prutting, C. A. (1983). Pragmatic assessment and intervention issues in language. San Diego, CA: College-Hill Press.
- Garvey, C. (1974). Some properties of social play. Merrill-Palmer Quarterly, 20, 163-180.
- Garvey, C. (1975). Requests and responses in children's speech, *Journal of Child Language*, 2, 41-63.
- Garvey, C. (1984). Children's talk. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Garvey, C. (1986). Peer relations and the growth of communication. In E. C. Mueller & C. R. Cooper (Eds.), *Process and outcome in peer relationships* (pp. 329-345). Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Garvey, C., & Bendebba, M. (1974). Effects of age, sex, and partner on children's dyadic speech. *Child Development*, 45, 1159-1161.

- Gertner, B. L., Rice, M. L., & Hadley, P. A. (1994). Influence of communicative competence on peer preferences in a preschool classroom. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Research*, 37, 913-923.
- Goldstein, H., & Gallagher, T. M. (1992). Strategies for promoting the social-communicative competence of young children with specific language impairment. In S. L. Odom, S. R. McConnell, & M. A. McEvoy (Eds.), Social competence of young children with disabilities: Issues and strategies for intervention (pp. 189-213). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brooks.
- Goldstein, H., & Kaczmarek, L. (1992). Promoting communicative interaction among children in integrated intervention settings. In S. T. Warren & J. Reichle (Eds.), Causes and effects in communication and language Intervention (pp. 81-112). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brooks.
- Goldstein, H., Wickstrom, S., Hoyson, M., Jamieson, B., & Odom, S. (1988). Effects of sociodramatic play training on social and communicative interaction. Education and Treatment of Children, 11, 97-117.
- Guralnick, M. J. (1981). The social behavior of preschool children at different developmental levels: Effects of group composition. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 31, 115-130.
- Guralnick, M. J. (1986). The peer relations of young handicapped and non handicapped children. In P. S. Strain, M. J. Guralnick, & H. M. Walker (Eds.), ('hildren's social behavior: Development, assessment, and modification (pp. 93-140). Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Guralnick, M. J. (1992). A hierarchical model for understanding children's peer-related social competence. In S. L. Odom, S. R. McConnell, & M. A. McEvoy (Eds.), Social competence of young children with disabilities: Issues and strategies for intervention (pp. 37-64). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brooks.
- Guralnick, M. J. (1993). Foreword. In C. A. Peck, S. L. Odom, & D. D. Bricker (Eds.), Integrating young children with disabilities into community programs (p. ix). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brooks.
- Guralnick, M. J., & Groom, J. (1985). Correlates of peer related social competence of developmentally delayed preschool children. *American Journal of Mental Deficiency*, 90, 140-150.
- Guralnick, M. J., & Groom, (1987). The peer relations of mildly delayed and non handicapped preschool children in mainstreamed playgroups. *Child Development*, 58, 1556-1572.

- Guralnick, M. J., & Groom, D. (1988). Peer interactions in mainstreamed and specialized classrooms: A comparative analysis. *Exceptional Children*, 54, 415-425.
- Guralnick, M. J., & Paul-Brown, D. (1977). The nature of verbal interactions among handicapped and non handicapped preschool children. *Child Development*, 48, 254-260.
- Guralnick, M. J., & Paul-Brown, D. (1980). Functional and discourse analysis of nonhandicapped preschool children's speech to handicapped children. *American Journal of Mental Deficiency*, 84, 444-454.
- Guralnick, M. J., & Paul-Brown, D. (1984). Communicative adjustments during behavior request episodes among children at different developmental levels. *Child Development*, 55, 911-919.
- Guralnick, M. J., & Paul-Brown, D. (1986). Communicative interactions of mildly delayed and normally developing preschool children: Effects of listeners developmental level. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Research*, 29, 2-10.
- Guralnick, M. J., & Paul-Brown, D. (1989). Peer related communicative competence of preschool children: Development and adaptive characteristics. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Research*, 32, 930-943.
- Guralnick, M. J., & Weinhouse, E. M. (1984). Peer related social interactions of developmentally delayed young children: Development and characteristics. *Developmental Psychology*, 20, 815-827.
- Hadley, P. A., & Rice, M. L. (1991). Conversational responsiveness of speech and language-impaired preschoolers. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Research*, 34, 1308-1317.
- Halle, J. (1985). Enhancing social competence through language: An experimental analysis of a practical procedure for teachers. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 4, 77-92.
- Halliday, M. A. K., (1975). Learning how to mean: Explorations in the development of language. London: Edward Arnold.
- Hartup, W. W. (1976). Peer interaction and the behavioral development of the individual child. In E. Schopler & R. Reichler (Eds.), *Psychopathology and child development: Research and treatment*, (pp. 203-218). New York, NY: Plenum.

- Hartup, W. W. (1978). Peer interaction and the process of socialization. In M. J. Guralnick (Ed.), Early intervention and the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped children (pp. 27-51). Baltimore, MD: University Park Press.
- Hartup, W. W. (1983). Peer relations. In M. Heatherington (Ed.), *Handi of child psychology* (Vol. IV, pp. 103-196). New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Hendrickson, J. M., Strain, P. S., Tremblay, A. & Shores, R. (1981). Relationship between toy and material use and the occurrence of social interactive behaviours by normally developing preschool children. *Psychology in the Schools*, 18, 500-505.
- Holmberg, M. C. (1980). The development of social interchange patterns from 12 to 42 months. *Child Development*, 51, 448-456.
- Huberty, C. J. (1987). On statistical testing. Educational Researcher, 16, 4-9.
- Ispa, J. (1981). Social interactions among teachers, handicapped children, and nonhandicapped children in a mainstreamed preschool. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 1, 231-250.
- Jenkins, J. R., Speltz, M. L., & Odom, S. L. (1985). Integrating normal and handicapped preschoolers: Effects on child development and social interaction. *Exceptional Children*, 52, 7-17.
- Jenkins, J. R., Odom, S. L., & Speltz, M. L. (1989). Effects of social integration on preschool children with handicaps. *Exceptional Children*, 55, 420-428.
- Johnson, D. W., & Johnson, R. T. (1980). Integrating handicapped students into the mainstream. Exceptional Children, 47, 90-98.
- Karnes, M. D., & Lee, R. C. (1979). Mainstreaming in the preschool. In L. Katz (Ed.), Current topics in early childhood education (Vol. 2, pp. 13-42). Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Leiter, M. P. (1977). A study of reciprocity in preschool play groups. *Child Development*, 48, 7-18.
- MacDonald, J. D., Gillette, Y., & Hutchinson, T. A. (1989). Ecological programs for communicating partnerships. San Antonio, TX: Special Press.
- McEvoy, M. A., & Odom, S. L. (1987). Social interaction training for preschool children with behavior disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, 12, 242-252.

- McTear, M. (1979). "Hey! I've got something to tell you": A study of the initiation of conversational exchanges by preschool children. *Journal of Pragmatics*, 3, 321-336.
- McTear, M. (1985). Children's Conversation. New York, NY: Basil Blackwell.
- McTear, M., & Conti-Ramsden, G. (1992). *Pragmatic Disability in Children*. San Diego, CA: Singular Publishing Group.
- Mueller, E. (1972). The maintenance of verbal exchanges between young children. *Child Development*, 43, 930-938.
- Mueller, E., & Brenner, J. (1977). The origins of social skills and interaction among play group toddlers. *Child Development*, 48, 854-861.
- Odom, S. L., & Brown, W. H. (1993). Social interaction skills interventions for young children with disabilities in integrated settings. In C. A. Peck, S. L. Odom, & D. D. Bricker (Eds.), *Integrating young children with disabilities into community programs* (pp. 39-64). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brooks.
- Odom, S. L., Hoyson, M., Jamieson, B., & Strain, P. S. (1985). Increasing handicapped preschoolers peer social interactions: Cross setting and component analysis. Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis, 18, 3-16.
- Odom, S. L., & McEvoy, M. A. (1988). Integration of young children with handicaps and normally developing children. In S. L. Odom & M. B. Karnes (Eds.), Early intervention for infants and children with handicaps: An empirical base (pp. 217-240). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brooks.
- Odom, S. L., McConnell, S. R., & McEvoy, M. A. (1992). Peer related social competence and its significance for young children with disabilities. In S. L. Odom, S. R. McConnell, & M. A. McEvoy (Eds.), Social competence of young children with disabilities (pp. 3-35). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brooks
- Odom, S. L., Peterson, C., McConnell, S., & Ostrosky, M. (1990). Ecobehavioral analysis of early education/specialized classroom settings and peer social interaction. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 13, 316-330.
- Odom, S. L., & Strain, P. S. (1984). Peer mediated approaches to increasing children's social interactions. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 54, 544-557.
- Odom, S. L., & Strain, P. S. (1986). A comparison of peer initiation and teacherantecedent interventions for promoting reciprocal social interaction of autistic preschoolers. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 19, 59-72.

- Ostrosky, M., Kaiser, A. P. & Odom, S. L. (1993). Facilitating children's social-communicative interactions through the use of peer-mediated interventions. In A. P. Kaiser & D. B. Gray (Eds.), Enhancing children's communication: Research foundations for intervention (pp. 159-186). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brooks.
- Parker, J. G., & Asher, S. R. (1987). Peer relations and later personal adjustments: Are low accepted children at risk? *Psychological Bulletin*, 102, 357-389.
- Paul, L. (1985). Programming peer support for functional language. In S. Warren & A. K. Rogers-Warren (Eds.), *Teaching functional language* (pp. 289-307). Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.
- Peck, C. A., Odom, S. L., & Bricker, D. D. (1993). Integrating young children with disabilities into community programs. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brooks.
- Peterson, N. L., & Haralick, J. G. (1977). Integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped preschoolers: An analysis of play behavior and social interaction. *Education and Training of the Mentally Retarded*, 12, 234-235.
- Prutting, C. A. (1982). Pragmatics as social competence. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Disorders*, 47, 123-134.
- Rice, M. L. (1993). "Don't talk to him; He's weird:" A social consequences account of language and social interactions. In A. P. Kaiser & D. B. Gray (Eds.), Enhancing children's communication: Research foundations for intervention (pp. 139-158). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brooks.
- Rice, M. L., Sell, M. A., & Hadley, P. A. (1991). Social interactions of speech and language-impaired children. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Research*, 34, 1299-1307.
- Roberts, J. E., Burchinal, M. R., & Bailey, D. B. (1994). Communication among preschoolers with and without disabilities in same-age and mixed-age classes. *American Journal on Mental Retardation*, 99, 231-249.
- Salisbury. C. L., Britzman, D., & Kang, J. (1989). Using qualitative methods to assess the social-communicative competence of young handicapped children. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 13, 153-164.
- Strain, P. S. (1983). Identification of social skill curriculum targets for severely handicapped children in mainstreamed preschools. *Applied Research in Mental Retardation*, 4, 369-382.

- Strain P. S. (1985). Programmatic research on peers as intervention agents for socially isolate classmates. *The Pointer*, 29, 22-29.
- Strain, P. S., & Kohler, F. W. (1988). Social skill intervention with young children with handicaps: Some new conceptualizations and directions. In S. L. Odom & M. Karnes (Eds.), Early intervention for infants and children with handicaps: An empirical base (pp. 129-143). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brooks.
- Strain, P. S., & Odom, S. L. (1986). Peer social initiations: Effective intervention for social skills development of exceptional children. *Exceptional Children*, 52, 543-551.
- Strain, P. S., Shores, R. E., & Timm, M. (1977). Effects of peer social initiations on the behavior of withdrawn preschool children. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 7, 583-590.
- Striefel, S., Killoran, J., & Quintero, M. (1991). Functional Integration for success: Preschool intervention. Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.
- Tremblay, A., Strain, P. S., Hendrickson, J. M., & Shores, R. E. (1981). Social interactions of normally developing preschool children: Using normative data for subject and target behavior selection. *Behavior Modification*, 5, 237-253.
- Vandell, D. L., Wilson, K. S., & Buchanan, N. R. (1980). Peer interaction in the first year of life: An examination of its structure, content, and sensitivity to toys. *Child Development*, 51, 481-488.
- Voeltz, L. M. (1980). Children's attitudes toward handicapped peers. *American Journal of Mental Deficiency*, 84, 455-464.
- Voeltz, L. M. (1982). Effects of structured interactions with severely handicapped peers on children's attitudes. *American Journal of Mental Deficiency*, 86, 380-390.
- Wang, M. C., & Baker, E. T. (1985). Mainstreaming programs: Design features and effects. *The Journal of Special Education*, 19, 503-521.
- Weiss, A. L., & Nakamura, M. (1992). Children with normal language skills in preschool classrooms for children with language impairments: Differences in modelling styles. Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 23, 64-70.
- Wellman, H., & Lempers, J. (1977). The naturalistic communication abilities of two-year olds. *Child Development*, 48, 1052-1057.

- Wetherby, A. M., Cain, D. H., Yonclas, D. G., & Walker, V. G., (1988). Analysis of intentional communication of normal children from the prelinguistic to the multiword stage. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Research*, 31, 240-252.
- Wetherby, A. M., & Prizant, B. M. (1993). Communication and Symbolic Behavior Scales (CSBS), Chicago, IL: Riverside Publishing.
- Wetherby, A. M., Yonclas, D. G., & Bryan, A. A. (1989). Communication profiles of preschool children with handicaps: Implications for early identification. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Research*, 54, 148-158.
- Wilcox, M. J. (1995). Facilitating initial communication and language skills in young children with developmental disabilities. Paper presented at Alberta Children's Hospital, Calgary, Alberta.
- Wolfensberger, W. (1972). The principle of normalization in human services. Toronto, ON: National Institute on Mental Retardation.

APPENDIX A

Coding Sheet

Initiations		Responses							
Broad Transcript	Time	Initiator (S, P, A)	Function (JA, JA?, BR, BRP, SI)	Mode (V, NV)	AGD (+, -, #)	Address -ee (S, P, A)	Response (+, -, NR)	Mode (V, NV)	Broad Transcript
									
		<u></u>							
									
						404			
Totals:									

APPENDIX B

Definition of Codes

smmunicative Act

Initiation (I):

A gesture, vocalization, or verbalization directed to a peer or adult that serves a communicative function.

Initiator:

Subject (S)

Peer (P)

Adult (A)

Function

Joint Attention (JA)

A communicative act used to direct another's attention to an object, event, or topic of a communicative act (e.g., comment).

Joint Attention Question (JA?)

A communicative act used to direct another's attention to an object, event, or topic of a communicative act by seeking information or clarification with, for example, wh questions or rising intonation.

Behavior Regulation (BR)

A communicative act used to regulate the behavior of another person to obtain a specific result (e.g., request object/action, direct).

Behavior Regulation Protest (BRP)

A communicative act used to regulate the behavior of another person by protest of an object or action.

Social Interaction (SI)

A communicative act used to attract or maintain another's attention to oneself (e.g., request social routine, request comfort, call, greet, show off).

Mode

Verbal (V)

Contains a lexical form(s) defined as a consistent sound pattern or sign that approximates a conventional word and is used to refer to a specific object, action, or attribute.

Non Verbal (NV)

Contains a conventional gesture (point, push, reach, wave, head shake/nod, show, give), a contact gesture (manipulating another's hand, giving an object, showing an object, touching

or tapping and object/picture while pointing) or a distal gesture (open handed reach, pointing at a distance, depictive movement), with or without a vocalization.

Attention Getting Device (AGD)

<u>Used</u> (+)

A behavior immediately preceding or concurrent with a communicative act that gains the attention of the addressee: physical proximity, physical touch, eye contact, a vocative such as "hey", or addressee's name.

Not Used (-)

An attention getting device was not used preceding to or concurrent with a communicative act.

Could Not Determine (#)

Unable to code the presence or absence of an attention getting device, e. g., back turned to camera, out of camera range.

Response

A gesture, vocalization, verbalization or compliant act directed to a peer or adult that follows within 3 seconds of that peer or adult's communicative act.

Addressee:

Subject (S)

Peer (P)

Adult (A)

Appropriate (+):

An act that acknowledges or complies with the communicative function of the initiation.

Inappropriate (-)

An act that does not acknowledge or comply with the communicative function of the initiation.

No Response (NR)

No responsive act within three seconds of an initiation, ignore, or leaving the centre.

APPENDIX C

Participant's Informed Consent (Subjects)

<u>Title of Project</u>: The social-communicative interactions of developmentally delayed preschool children in integrated settings.

Principal Investigator: Mary A. Reynolds, Graduate student

University of Alberta

492-5407

Supervisor: Gary Holdgrafer, Ph.D.

Professor, Department of Speech Pathology and Audiology

2-70 Corbett Hall University of Alberta Edmonton, Alberta

492-5990

Description of Study: The purpose of this research project is to describe how developmentally delayed preschool children communicate with their normally developing peers, developmentally delayed peers, and adults, in two types of integrated settings. The subjects of this study will be children who exhibit developmental delays and meet the criterion for subject selection. Cumulative files kept by the Early Education Program will be used to determine eligibility. The subjects must also be enrolled both in a reverse integrated setting (the Early Education Program) and a mainstreamed setting (a daycare). The subjects will be videorecorded on two occasions in each setting during free play. A small wireless microphone will be worn by the subject and will be housed in a comfortable vest or fanny pack. Interactions during free play for a continuous forty minute period will be videorecorded. The investigator will remain at a reasonable distance away from the children, and will not interfere with or interact with the children during videotaping. The investigator's presence will be as unobtrusive as possible and will not affect the activities of the classroom. No intervention or other experimentation will be conducted.

Confidentiality of Information: As mentioned above, the sessions will be recorded on videotape. It is customary for research projects to ensure that the privacy of research participants is maintained by restricting access to research materials that would identify participants. To ensure the privacy of your child, video tapes will be identified by project ID number only. Only project researchers will have access to the videotapes. All tapes will be kept in a locked filing cabinet with the same restricted access.

The videotapes will be used only for the research purposes stated above. Information obtained from cumulative files will likewise be identified by Id number only.

your child to participate, you may with	is completely voluntary. If you agree to allow draw from the study at any time without negative shild's participation, please return one copy of this
If you have any questions about this proplease do not hesitate to call Mary Rey request.	oject, either before or after you give your consent molds at 492-5407. Thank you for considering this
interactions of developmentally delayed conducted by Mary A. Reynolds under permission for my child to participate in eligibility by reviewing his/her cumulati	rch project entitled "The social-communicative of preschool children in integrated settings" to be the supervision of Dr. Gary Holdgrafer. I give my not this study and for Mary Reynolds to determine ive file. I also give permission for Mary Reynolds is enrolled. I have received a copy of the consent
Participant's printed name	Date
Parent/Guardian signature	Witness
Investigator's signature	Investigator's printed name

APPENDIX D

Participant's Informed Consent (Peers)

<u>Title of Project</u>: The social-communicative interactions of developmentally delayed preschool children in integrated settings

Principal Investigator: Mary A. Reynolds, Graduate student

University of Alberta

492-5407

Supervisor: Gary Holdgrafer, Ph.D.

Professor, Department of Speech Pathology and Audiology

2-70 Corbett Hall University of Alberta Edmonton, Alberta

492-5990

Description of Study: The purpose of this research project is to describe how developmentally delayed preschool children communicate with their normally developing peers, developmentally delayed peers, and adults in two types of integrated settings. The subjects of this study will be enrolled both in a reverse integrated setting (the Early Education Program) and a mainstreamed setting (a daycare). The subjects will be videorecorded on two occasions in each setting during free play. A small wireless microphone will be worn by the subject and will be housed in a comfortable vest or fanny pack. Interactions during free play for a continuous forty minute period will be videorecorded. The investigator will remain at a reasonable distance away from the children, and will not interfere with or interact with the children during videotaping. The investigator's presence will be as unobtrusive as possible and will not affect the activities of the classroom. No intervention or other experimentation will be conducted.

<u>Confidentiality of Information</u>: As mentioned above, the sessions will be recorded on videotape. It is customary for research projects to ensure that privacy of research participants is maintained by restricting access to research materials that would identify participants. To ensure the privacy of your child, video tapes will be identified by project ID number only. Only project researchers will have access to the videotapes. All tapes will be kept in a locked filing cabinet with the same restricted access. The videotapes will be used only for the research purposes stated above.

Your child's participation in this study is completely voluntary. If you agree to allow your child to participate, you may withdraw from the study at any time without negative consequences. If you consent to your child's participation, please return one copy of this form with your signature.

If you have any questions about this projeplease do not hesitate to call Mary Reynorequest.	ect, either before or after you give your consent, olds at 492-5407. Thank you for considering this
interactions of developmentally delayed p conducted by Mary A. Reynolds under th	h project entitled "The social-communicative breschool children in integrated settings" to be supervision of Dr. Gary Holdgrafer. I give my a classroom peer. I have received a copy of the
Participant's printed name	Date
Parent/Guardian signature	Witness
Investigator's signature	Investigator's printed name

APPENDIX E

Participant's Informed Consent (Staff)

<u>Title of Project</u>: The social-communicative interactions of developmentally delayed preschool children in integrated settings.

Principal Investigator: Mary A. Reynolds, Graduate student

University of Alberta

492-5407

<u>Supervisor</u>: Gary Holdgrafer, Ph.D.

Professor, Department of Speech Pathology and Audiology

2-70 Corbett Hall University of Alberta Edmonton, Alberta

492-5990

Description of Study: The purpose of this research project is to describe how developmentally delayed preschool children communicate with their normally developing peers, developmentally delayed peers, and adults in two types of integrated settings. The subjects of this study will be enrolled both in a reverse integrated setting (the Early Education Program) and a mainstreamed setting (a daycare). The subjects will be videorecorded on two occasions in each setting during free play. A small wireless microphone will be worn by the subject and will be housed in a comfortable vest or fanny pack. Interactions during free play for a continuous forty minute period will be videorecorded. The investigator will remain at a reasonable distance away from the children, and will not interfere with or interact with the children during videotaping. The investigator's presence will be as unobtrusive as possible and will not affect the activities of the classroom. No intervention or other experimentation will be conducted.

<u>Confidentiality of Information</u>: As mentioned above, the sessions will be recorded on videotape. It is customary for research projects to ensure that privacy of research participants is maintained by restricting access to research materials that would identify participants. To ensure the privacy of the staff, video tapes will be identified by project ID number only. Only project researchers will have access to the videotapes. All tapes will be kept in a locked filing cabinet with the same restricted access. The videotapes will be used only for the research purposes stated above.

Your participation in this study is completely voluntary. If you agree to participate, you may withdraw from the study at any time without negative consequences. If you agree to participation, please return one copy of this form with your signature.

	oject, either before or after you give your conse molds at 492-5407. Thank you for considering t
interactions of developmentally delayed	rch project entitled "The social-communicative I preschool children in integrated settings" to be the supervision of Dr. Gary Holdgrafer. I agree I the consent form.
Participant's printed name	Date
Parent/Guardian signature	Witness
Investigator's signature	Investigator's printed name